IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-2248

HARRY FRANKLIN PHILLIPS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WILLIAM M. HENNIS, III Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0066850

LEOR VELEANU Staff Attorney Florida Bar No. 0139191

LAW OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL

COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Harry Franklin Phillips was originally convicted of first degree murder in the death of Bjorn Thomas Svenson and sentenced to death in 1983. Mr. Phillips was found guilty of one count of first degree murder. The jury voted in favor of death by a vote of seven (7) to five (5). The Honorable Arthur Snyder followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced Mr. Phillips to die in the electric chair.

This Court affirmed that sentence on direct appeal. <u>Phillips v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1985). The lower court, the Honorable Arthur Snyder, denied Mr. Phillips postconviction motion following an evidentiary hearing in 1988. On the appeal from denial of 3.850 relief, this Court determined that Mr. Phillips had received ineffective assistance of counsel at the sentencing phase of his trial and his death sentence was vacated. <u>Phillips</u> <u>v. State</u>, 608 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 1992).

Subsequently, in 1994, a resentencing proceeding was held in the Circuit Court for the Eleventh Judicial

Circuit, in and for Dade County (now Miami-Dade County), Florida, before the Honorable Arthur Snyder. Mr. Phillips was resentenced to death by the trial court after the jury, again by a vote of seven (7) to five (5), recommended death. On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the sentence imposing the death penalty. <u>Phillips v.</u> <u>State</u>, 705 So. 2d 1320 (Fla 1997), <u>cert. denied</u>, 119 S. Ct. 187 (1998).

On September 13, 1999, Mr. Phillips filed an incomplete motion in this case in order to toll the time in which he is entitled to file a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in federal court. <u>See</u> 28 U.S.C. §2244(d)(2) (1996).

Following hearings before the Honorable Alex Ferrer on September 23, 1999 and November 17, 1999, the court ordered Mr. Phillips counsel to file a final 3.850 by December 2, 1999. After a hearing pursuant to <u>Huff v.</u> <u>State</u>, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993), on February 25, 2000, the lower court entered an order on August 28, 2000 denying relief to Mr. Phillips without benefit of an

evidentiary hearing on any issue. On September 12, 2000, Mr. Phillips filed a timely motion for rehearing, and an order denying the motion for rehearing was entered on September 26, 2000. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. The lower court's summary denial of Mr. Phillips' 3.850 motion without an evidentiary hearing on any of the claims contained therein was erroneous and failed to meet the minimal standards set forth in Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 and the applicable case law. Mr. Phillips was prepared to present expert testimony at an evidentiary hearing that Mr. Phillips was and is mentally retarded and suffers from organic brain damage. Resentencing counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Mr. Phillips.

2. Mr. Phillips should have an opportunity to prove in circuit court that he meets the criteria for mental retardation described in new § 921.137 <u>Florida Statutes</u>, which prospectively ends the practice of sentencing mentally retarded persons to death in Florida.

3. The lower court erred in denying Mr. Phillips

adequate time to review recently produced public records before requiring him to file a final 3.850 motion. In addition, the lower court refused to allow Mr. Phillips to file public records affidavits in a timely manner. The result of the biased decisions of the lower court created conflict of interest Phillips between Mr. а and postconviction counsel.

4. Mr. Phillips resentencing was prejudiced by ineffective assistance of counsel at jury selection and by the instructions given to the jury over objection by resentencing counsel. This error was compounded by the failure of the lower court considering Mr. Phillips' 3.850 motion to allow Mr. Phillips leave to interview the jurors in his case in the face of the circumstances involving the jury at resentencing.

5. The State and the lower court improperly shifted the burden to Mr. Phillips to establish that mitigating circumstances outweighed aggravating circumstances.

6. The State was improperly allowed to focus their rebuttal case and argument on non-statutory aggravation.

7. Mr. Phillips is innocent of the death penalty.

8. Mr. Phillips' insanity precludes his execution under the Eighth Amendment.

9. It was a violation of Mr. Phillips' rights for the jury or trial court to consider Mr. Phillips' prior convictions.

10. Mr. Phillips' was not present at numerous unrecorded bench conferences and sidebars during his resentencing proceeding.

11. Cumulative error at Mr. Phillips' resentencing was grounds for an evidentiary hearing.

ARGUMENT I -- SUMMARY DENIAL OF ALL CLAIMS WAS

ERRONEOUS

The lower court entered an Order On Defendant's Amended Motion To Vacate Judgement Of Conviction And Sentence With Special Request For Leave To Amend on August 28, 2000, summarily denying Mr. Phillips' Rule 3.850 motion. (R. 142-44). The order makes the finding in Paragraph 1 that Claims 1 through 6, 15, 21, and 24 were summarily denied on the grounds that they are "facially insufficient," and in Paragraph 2, that:

> With regard to Claims 5 and 6, in particular, the record is replete with evidence that trial court acknowledged the Defendant's low IQ, abusive childhood, inadequate parental guidance and poor family background as nonstatutory mitigating circumstances. Considering all, factors, Defendant's claim fails to satisfy, even on its face, the requirements of <u>Strickland v.</u> <u>Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

(R.142). Claims 5 and 6 were the penalty phase ineffective assistance of counsel and <u>Ake v. Oklahoma</u>, 470 U.S. 68 (1985) claims. Judge Ferrer's finding fails to mention that the 1994 resentencing judge's order, while "acknowledging" that Mr. Phillips had a low IQ, failed completely to give either that fact or **any** of the other non-statutory mitigation any weight. The order entered by Judge Snyder following the resentencing made the following findings concerning non-statutory mitigation:

The Court also recognizes that the

defendant had a low IQ. However, the evidence also shows that he is street smart. The defendant could follow the rules of work, or parole, when he wanted to. He was able to plan a false alibi and indirectly threaten witnesses. The Court finds that to the extent these nonstatutory mitigating circumstances are found to reasonably exist, then they should be given little weight, as they simply do not extenuate or reduce the degree or moral culpability of the defendant's actions in committing this homicide.

(Supp. R. 187). Undersigned counsel is aware that the weight assigned to a mitigating circumstance is within the discretion of the trial court and subject to the abuse of discretion standard. Rogers v. State, 783 So. 2d 980, 995 (Fla, 2001). The law did not require that Mr. Phillips establish the existence of mitigating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Nibert v. State</u>, 574 So. 2d 1059, ("when a reasonable 1062 (Fla. 1991) quantum of uncontroverted evidence of a mitigating circumstance is presented, the trial court must find that the mitigating circumstance has been proved"). The language of the resentencing court's order directly tracks the language of

the State's proposed order prior to sentencing.¹ In addition, the lower court's "finding" relies on the hearsay evidence presented in 1994 through the testimony of Miami-Dade detective Greg Smith concerning statements made to him by numerous jailhouse witnesses who had

¹This Court denied relief to Mr. Phillips on the Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993), hearing issue on appeal from the resentencing as noted in paragraph 15 of Judge Ferrer's summary denial order relying on the procedural bar for denial of the related claim in Mr. Phillips' 3.850 motion. (PCR. 144). Mr. Phillips' position is that Judge Snyder's order was a clearly erroneous order in light of the following factors: defense counsel's inability due to Judge Snyder's rulings to rebut Detective Smith's hearsay testimony concerning the jailhouse witnesses and documents; the reliance of Drs. Miller and Haber on the same unrebutted information their opinions for regarding Mr. Phillips' mental abilities; the flawed opinions of Drs. Miller and Haber about what constitutes statutory mitigation especially the meaning of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, a position that is mirrored in the sentencing order; resentencing counsel's inability to properly cross-examine Drs. Miller and Haber about Mr. Phillips' alleged attempt to fabricate an alibi based on the documents and information connected to the jailhouse witnesses; Judge Snyder's finding that the testimony of Drs. Haber and Miller was "inherently more credible" than the testimony of Drs. Carbonell and Toomer; unrebutted evidence of the possibility of brain damage; and, the failure of resentencing counsel to properly choose and prepare his one live mental health expert resulting in credibility findings against Dr. Toomer by Judge Snyder.

testified against Mr. Phillips at his 1983 trial, testimony which resentencing counsel was unable to effectively rebut due to evidentiary rulings at the 1994 proceeding by Judge Snyder. The state's proposed order read:

> The State also recognizes that the defendant **has** a low IO. However, the evidence also shows that he is street The defendant could follow the smart. rules of work, or parole, when he wanted He was able to plan a phony alibi to. and indirectly threaten witnesses. The State submits that to the extent these nonstatutory mitigating circumstances are found to reasonably exist, then they should be given little weight, as they simply do not extenuate or reduce the degree or moral culpability of the defendant's actions in committing this homicide.

(R. 136-37)(emphasis added). Judge Ferrer's summary denial order ignored Mr. Phillips' assertions in the 3.850 pleadings, at the <u>Huff</u> hearing and in his motion for rehearing that postconviction counsel was prepared to present expert testimony at an evidentiary hearing from both a medical doctor who had examined Mr. Phillips (a neurologist) and from a mental retardation expert (psychologist) who had both tested and interviewed Mr. Phillips as well as having interviewed other family members and friends and that their testimony at an evidentiary hearing would establish that Mr. Phillips had a history of adaptive behavior deficits and current IQ scores meeting the professional standard for mental retardation. (PCR. 30-37).

The testimony of these two experts at an evidentiary hearing would establish that at the time of the offense and at present Mr. Phillips suffered from both organic brain damage and mental retardation (not merely "low IQ") and that based on these mental and emotional disturbances Mr. Phillips, in the opinion of these two experts, "can show that he fulfilled the criteria for two statutory mitigating circumstances; namely that Mr. Phillips was unable to appreciate the criminality of his conduct at the time of the offense and that his capacity to conform his conduct in accordance with the law was substantially impaired; and that he was suffering from extreme mental and emotional disturbance." (PCR 28). The lower court's

failure to grant an evidentiary hearing in these circumstances took no account of the fact that the jury recommendation in Mr. Phillips' resentencing was only seven (7) to five (5) in favor of death in spite of the fact that Judge Snyder found **no** statutory mitigation. Relevant portions of Claim IV of Mr. Phillips' 3.850 motion outlined why an evidentiary hearing was required in these circumstances:

> A review of the files and records currently available to undersigned counsel indicates that (1) Mr. Phillips is mentally retarded, and (2) that his mental capacity results from and is exacerbated by his organic brain damage, itself the result of multiple causative factors.

> The concept of mental retardation is not an easy one for lay persons to grasp. In the words of the American Association on Mental Retardation (AMR) it:

> > .. is not something you have, like blue eyes or a bad heart. Nor is it something you are, like being short or thin. It is not a medical disorder, although it may be coded in a medical classification of diseases. Nor is it a mental

disorder although it may be coded in a classification of psychiatric disorders. *Mental retardation* refers to a particular state of functioning that begins in childhood and in which limitations in intelligence coexist with related limitations in adaptive skills.

Retardation. Mental Definition. Classification, and Systems of Supports (9th edition, American Association on Mental Retardation. In short, Mental Retardation "..a is fundamental difficulty in learning and performing certain daily life skills. The personal capabilities in which there must be a substantial limitation are conceptual, practical and social intelligence. Id

Mental retardation is а severe impairment, affecting both cognitive and adaptive functioning. The essential feature of mental retardation is significantly subaverage general intellectual functioning, accompanied by significant limitations in adaptive behavior. The affected individual is not merely a "slow learner", but suffers from a condition that permeates every aspect of daily life. The diagnostic retardation are criteria for mental specific. Without assistance from a health competent mental expert, adequately briefed with Mr. Phillips' social history, it was impossible for the jury or judge to understand of the extent and severity Mr. Phillips' disability.

Trial counsel however failed to present adequate evidence to support Mr. Phillips' impaired intellectual functioning, his impaired adaptive behavior, or his brain damage. The triers of fact were thus left with a misleading impression that Mr. Phillips' alleged "street smarts" compensated for his low intellectual functioning (R. 751-53). Tn fact, paradoxically, mentally retarded people characteristically have a great ability to hide their retardation. This may be due to a genuine misreading of their own skills, or from defensiveness about the degree of their handicap. Without adequate testimony from a specialist in mental retardation however, this "masking" phenomenon may be taken at face value and attributed to "street smarts", which is exactly what happened in Mr. Phillips' resentencing, to his substantial prejudice.

Phillips can show that he Mr. fulfilled the criteria for two statutory mitigating circumstances; namely that Mr. Phillips was unable to appreciate the criminality of his conduct and that his capacity to conform his conduct in accordance with the law was substantially impaired; and that he was suffering from extreme mental and emotional disturbance. Expert testimony can be presented that also prove numerous non-statutory mitigating For example, his mental factors. retardation and low intellectual

functioning, his organic brain damage, impulsivity poor his and memory functioning should have been considered by the sentencing jury. Furthermore, Mr. Phillips can show that his mental deficits should have precluded the imposition of the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstance.

Trial counsel unreasonably failed to obtain the proper experts in Mr. Phillips' case. Despite his awareness Phillips' low intellectual of Mr. functioning, counsel failed to consult a specialist expert in mental retardation. Despite his awareness of Mr. Phillips' numerous head traumas, gunshot wounds, alcohol exposure, and fetal counsel failed to consult and present a medical specialist - a neuropsychiatrist or neurologist - who would have supported the neuropsychological indications of brain damage (Supp. R. 36)(R. 610). There was substantial other evidence of past trauma to indicate the etiology of organicity; including, but not limited to, systemic racism (R. 554, 564), а qunshot wound to the head in childhood (R. 531-32; 568-69)(Supp.R. 645-46), a and history of abuse parental abandonment (R. 525 - 27; 530;551-52; 554; 564), childhood alcohol exposure, poverty, and the likelihood of exposure to toxins through the agency of Mr. Phillips' parents' history as migrant workers and Mr. Phillips' own work history (R. 519-20, 547). Despite the explicit appearance of these factors in

the record, counsel failed to establish the links between them and Mr. Phillips' mental deficits.

Trial counsel's ineffectiveness in failing to retain appropriate experts in mental retardation and medicine also precluded the trial court from fulfilling its duty to Mr. Phillips.

(PCR. 54-59)(emphasis added). The emphasized portions of this recitation of what was actually plead is of critical importance when this Court considers the summary denial of an evidentiary hearing by the lower court. The state's response to Mr. Phillips' postconviction motion took the position that "resentencing counsel in fact presented every aspect of alleged mitigation complained of in these post-conviction proceedings, and then some." (PCR. 199-Additionally, the state took the position that 200). postconviction counsel included "no allegations herein that the Defendant has been subsequently examined by [a mental retardation specialist or neurologist]" (R. 208). Neither were the case. The State has never agreed and the lower courts have never heard specific testimony that Mr. Phillips is brain damaged and mentally retarded. Such evidence would not be cumulative, as envisioned in <u>Valle</u> <u>v. State</u>, 705 So. 2d 1331 (Fla. 1997). Undersigned counsel emphasized these points at the <u>Huff</u> hearing. (Supp. PCR. 226-227, 241-244).

There was virtually no factual discussion of any of the claims that were found to be inadequately plead in the lower court's summary denial order. The summary dismissal of the <u>Strickland²</u> and <u>Ake³</u> claims included only one sentence of discussion. The lower court appears to have made no use of the record or files in this case, which certainly do not show conclusively that Mr. Phillips is not entitled to relief. Thus, the order of the lower court ignores the express requirements of Rule 3.850 and the substantial and unequivocal body of case law from this Court holding that courts must comply with the Rule. As to the sufficiency of the pleadings of ineffectiveness of trial counsel, Mr. Phillips has clearly met the burden under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. As noted by this Court,

²<u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). ³<u>Ake v. Oklahoma</u>, 470 U.S. 68 (1985). "[w]hile the post conviction defendant has the burden of pleading a sufficient factual basis for relief, an evidentiary hearing is presumed necessary absent a conclusive demonstration that the defendant is entitled to no relief". <u>Gaskin v. State</u>, 737 So. 2d 509 (Fla. 1999). <u>See also Peede v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly 5391 (Fla. 1999). The rule was never intended to become a hindrance to obtaining a hearing or to permit the trial court to resolve disputed issues in a summary fashion. <u>Id</u>.

In their response to Mr. Phillips' 3.850 motion, the state relied on the hearsay testimony of Detective Greg Smith for the proposition that Mr. Phillips failed to demonstrate prejudice in light of the state's rebuttal evidence presented through lead detective Greg Smith as well as state experts Dr. Miller and Dr. Haber at the resentencing hearing. (PCR. 209-211). As noted elsewhere, Mr. Phillips was not allowed to rebut much of this important evidence because the state objected to rebuttal that in any sense raised "lingering doubt" issues of Mr. Phillips' guilt when he had only been granted a

resentencing and not a retrial. (T. 269-70). The lower court allowed the state to present Detective Smith's testimony to rebut the defense expert testimony. The result was that a jury that eventually split only seven (7) to five (5) for death never heard a proper defense attack on the 1983 testimony of the jailhouse witnesses. Evidence from these absent witnesses also came up in the testimony of state mental health experts Drs. Miller and Haber. In fact, the evidence and testimony presented at the 1988 evidentiary hearing about the jailhouse witnesses would have supported the findings of the defense experts that Mr. Phillips was easily manipulated and targeted by jailhouse snitches who had their own agenda. That evidence had been presented at the 1988 evidentiary hearing. The resentencing jury deserved to know about the existence of all the evidence in order to determine the credibility of the State's case in rebuttal.

The law strongly favors full evidentiary hearings in capital post conviction cases, especially where a claim is grounded in factual as opposed to legal matters. "Because

the trial court denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing...our review is limited to determining whether the motion conclusively shows whether [Mr. Phillips] is entitled to no relief." <u>Gorham v. State</u>, 521 So. 2d 1067, 1069 (Fla. 1988). <u>See also LeDuc v. State</u>, 415 So. 2d 721, 722 (Fla. 1982).

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