IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-2248

HARRY FRANKLIN PHILLIPS,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,

CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0012068
Office of the Attorney
General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131

PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5654

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

instruction on CCP was given, the lower court properly denied this claim as meritless.

With regard to the claim about the jury instruction on sympathy, this issue could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. *Van Poyck v. State*, 694 So. 2d 686, 698-99 & n.8 (Fla. 1997). As such, the lower court properly denied the claim as procedurally barred.

Even if the claim was not procedurally barred, the lower court would still have properly denied it as meritless. In Saffle v. Parks, 494 U.S. 484 (1990), the Court rejected a similar claim, finding that mere sympathy was not a mitigating factor. In doing so, the Court stated:

It is no doubt constitutionally permissible, if not constitutionally required, for the State to insist that "the individualized assessment of the appropriateness of the death penalty [be] a moral inquiry into the culpability of the defendant, and not an emotional response to the mitigating evidence." Whether a juror feels sympathy for a capital defendant is more likely to depend on that juror's own emotions than on the actual evidence regarding the crime and the defendant. It would be very difficult to reconcile a rule allowing the fate of a defendant to turn on the vagaries particular jurors' emotional sensitivities with our longstanding recognition that, all, capital sentencing must reliable, accurate, and nonarbitrary.

Id. at 492-93 (citations omitted). This Court has adopted to

reasoning of *Parks* to reject this claim previously. *See Zack v. State*, 753 So. 2d 9, 23-24 (Fla. 2000). As such, the lower court properly denied this claim as meritless.

With regard to the claim regarding juror interviews, this Court has repeatedly held that this is a claim that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. Young v. State, 739 So. 2d 553, 555 n.5 (Fla. 1999); Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 204-05 n.1 & 2 (Fla. 1998).

V. DEFENDANT'S CLAIMS REGARDING BURDEN SHIFTING WERE PROPERLY DENIED AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

Defendant next asserts that his sentence is invalid because of comments by the State regarding the weighing process. He also asserts that the jury instructions unconstitutionally shifted the burden to him to show that death was not appropriate. However, these claims were properly denied as they are procedurally barred and without merit.

Claims that the jury instructions shifted the burden of proof and claims regarding comments by the State are claims that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. Owen v. State, 773 So. 2d 510, 515 n.11 (Fla. 2000); Asay v. State, 769 So. 2d 974, 989 (Fla. 2000); Demps v. Dugger, 714 So. 2d 365 (Fla. 1998); Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 688, 697-99 (Fla. 1998). As such, the lower court properly denied these claims as

procedurally barred.

Moreover, the courts have repeatedly rejected the claim that the instruction improperly shifts the burden of proof. Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639, 649-51 (1990); San Martin v. State, 705 So. 2d 1337, 1350 (Fla. 1997); Kennedy v. State, 455 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 1984). As such, the claim was properly summarily denied.

VI. DEFENDANT'S CLAIM REGARDING NONSTATUTORY AGGRAVATION IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

Defendant next asserts that his sentence is invalid because of comments made by the State during resentencing. Specifically, Defendant asserts that the State raised nonstatutory aggravation when it observed that Defendant's siblings had not engaged in criminal behavior despite being raised in the same environment, when it commented about Defendant's prior life sentence and when it used evidence of Defendant's actions while on parole. However, this claim was properly summarily denied ,as it is procedurally barred and without merit.

Issues regarding comments by the State and introduction of evidence are issues that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. Atkins v. Dugger, 541 So. 2d 1165, 1166 n. 1 (Fla. 1989)(claim of non-statutory aggravation in sentencing was procedurally barred as it was either raised or should have been raised on direct appeal). In fact, Defendant did claim on his

resentencing appeal that these comments were improper. Initial Brief of Appellant, Case No. 83,731. This Court rejected this claim as procedurally barred or without merit. Phillips v. State, 705 So. 2d 1320, 1321 (Fla. 1997). As such, this claim was properly denied as procedurally barred. Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995). Moreover, couching the claim in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel does not lift the bar. Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995); Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990); Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So. 2d 1264, 1267 (Fla. 1990). Additionally, Defendant did not assert that the introduction of evidence regarding Defendant's actions while on parole raised improper nonstatutory aggravation in the trial court. As such, the claim regarding this evidence is not properly before this Court. Cook v. State, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S424, S426 (Fla. Jun. 28, 2001).

Even if the claim was not procedurally barred, the lower court would still have properly denied the claim as meritless. With regard to the comparison between Defendant and his siblings, this comment did not refer to nonstatutory aggravation. Instead, the comment was made in the context of the rebuttal of Defendant's mitigation. Defendant had claimed as mitigation that he was raised in poverty by an abusive, alcoholic father. In response, the State pointed out that

Defendant's siblings had been raised in the same environment and had not turned to lives of crime and that his upbringing did not cause Defendant to become a killer. (RST. 749) In this context, the comment was not improper. See Jones v. State, 652 So. 2d 346, 352 (Fla. 1995)(comparing defendant to President Ford and Justice Thomas to rebut defendant's claimed mitigation that he was not raised by biological parents not improper). As such, the lower court properly denied this claim.

With regard to the alleged comment on future dangerousness, the prosecutor stated during closing argument:

If life meant life, you and I would not be in this courtroom today talking about this case. We would be trying a burglary case in another courtroom. We would be doing something else if life meant life and Tom Svenson would not be laying in that parking lot in 1982.

(RST. 744) This comment was based on the fact that Defendant was sentenced to life imprisonment for the 1973 robbery on April 30, 1974. (RSR. 175) Had Defendant actually been required to serve that sentence in full, he would not have been able to commit this crime. Under these circumstances, this comment was proper. Parker v. State, 456 So. 2d 436, 443 (Fla. 1984)(comment that if life meant life, the victim would still be alive proper, where evidence showed that defendant had been sentenced to life in 1967, had escaped and had committed two more murders). As such,

the lower court properly denied this claim as meritless.

With regard to the admission of evidence of Defendant's activities while on parole, this evidence was properly admitted. One of the aggravating factors found in this case was that Defendant committed this murder to disrupt or hinder governmental function. The basis for this aggravator was that Svenson was a supervisor of Defendant's parole officers, that Svenson had testified against Defendant during a prior parole violation hearing, that Svenson had recently warned Defendant that continuation of certain actions he had taken would again result in violation of Defendant's parole and that Defendant killed Svenson to prevent him from again revoking Defendant's parole. On resentencing appeal, this Court relied on this very evidence in finding that the hinder governmental function aggravator had been proven. Phillips, 705 So. 2d at 1322-23. Under these circumstances, the trial court properly permitted the State to use a chart outlining Defendant's history while on parole as a demonstrative aid during opening statement. As such, the lower court properly denied this claim.

VII. DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT HE IS INNOCENT OF THE DEATH PENALTY WAS PROPERLY DENIED.

Defendant next asserts that he is innocent of the death penalty. However, this claim is devoid of merit and was properly

denied.

To prove a claim of actual innocence of the death penalty, a defendant must show "based on the evidence proffered plus all record evidence, a fair probability that a rational fact finder would have entertained a reasonable doubt as to the existence of those facts which are prerequisites under state or federal law for the imposition of the death penalty." Sawyer v. Whitley, 505 U.S. 333, 346 (1992)(quoting Sawyer v. Whitley, 945 F.2d 812 (5th Cir. 1991)). The Court further noted that "the 'actual innocence' requirement must focus on those elements that render a defendant eligible for the death penalty, and not on additional mitigating evidence that was prevented from being introduced as a result of a claimed constitutional error." Id. at 347. In applying this test to Florida's sentencing law, the Eleventh Circuit stated:

a petitioner may make a colorable showing that he is actually innocent of the death penalty by presenting evidence that an alleged constitutional error implicates <u>all</u> of the aggravating factors found to be present by the sentencing body. That is, but for the constitutional error, the sentencing body <u>could not</u> have found <u>any</u> aggravating factors and thus petitioner was ineligible for the death penalty.

Johnson v. Singletary, 938 F.2d 1166, 1183 (11th Cir. 1991)(en banc). This formulation was cited with approval in Sawyer.

Sawyer, 505 U.S. at 347 & n.15.

Here, the trial court relied upon four aggravating factors in sentencing Defendant to death: Prior violent felonies, under a sentence of imprisonment, hinder a governmental function and CCP. As noted in Issue IX, infra, Defendant's claim with regard to the prior violent felony aggravator is meritless. Because his argument with regard to the under a sentence of imprisonment aggravator is premised on the validity of his challenge to the prior violent felonies, it is also without merit. As these two aggravators are valid, Defendant has failed to show that he is innocent of the death penalty, and the claim was properly denied. Johnson, 938 F.2d at 1183.

Moreover, Defendant's claim with regard to CCP and hinder governmental function relies upon his assertion that his counsel was ineffective for failing to present evidence regarding his mental state that was in fact presented at his resentencing and rejected. See Issue I, supra. As such, this claim was properly summarily denied. Johnson, 938 F.2d at 1183.

VIII. THE CLAIM THAT DEFENDANT IS INSANE TO BE EXECUTED IS NOT RIPE.

Defendant next asserts that he is insane to be executed. However, this claim cannot be raised until an execution is imminent. See Herrera v. Collins, 506 U.S. 390, 405-06 (1993)("[T]he issue of sanity [to be executed] is properly considered in proximity to the execution."); Martinez-Villareal v. Stewart, 118 F.3d 625 (9th Cir. 1997)(same), aff'd, 523 U.S. 637 (1998). Here, Defendant's execution is not imminent; no warrant had been issued for his execution, and no date has been set. As such, this claim is not ripe for adjudication at this juncture and was properly summarily denied.

Further, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.811(c), Defendant cannot raise this issue in this Court until he has properly raised the issue with the Governor pursuant to §922.07, Fla. Stat. (1999). Defendant has not alleged that he has followed this procedure. Thus, the claim is again premature and was properly summarily rejected.

IX. DEFENDANT'S JOHNSON V. MISSISSIPPI, 486 U.S. 578 (1988), CLAIM WAS PROPERLY DENIED.

Defendant next asserts that the consideration of his prior convictions at sentencing violated *Johnson v. Mississippi*, 486 U.S. 578 (1988). However, the lower court properly denied this claim because it is procedurally barred, insufficiently pled and

without merit.

Claims that a death sentence is invalid because of the alleged invalidity of prior violent felonies are procedurally barred because they could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. Eutzy v. State, 541 So. 2d 1143, 1146 (Fla. 1989); Bundy v. State, 538 So. 2d 445, 447 (Fla. 1989). As this claim was not raised on direct appeal, the lower court properly found that it was procedurally barred.

Even if the claim was not procedurally barred, it was still properly denied as legally insufficient. In order to state a legally sufficient claim that Johnson v. Mississippi, 486 U.S. 578 (1988), was violated, a defendant must show that the prior conviction upon which the prior violent felony aggravator was based has been vacated. Buenoano v. State, 708 So. 2d 941, 952 (Fla. 1998); Stano v. State, 708 So. 2d 271, 275-76 (Fla. 1998); Henderson v. State, 617 So. 2d 313, 316 (Fla. 1993); Tafero v. State, 561 So. 2d 557, 559 (Fla. 1990); Eutzy, 541 So. 2d at 1146; Bundy, 538 So. 2d at 447. On resentencing, the lower court relied on Defendant's two prior convictions: armed robbery in Eleventh Judicial Circuit Case No. 73-2480B and assault with intend to commit first degree murder in Eleventh Judicial

Circuit Case No. 62-6140C.¹¹ (RSSR. 174-89) Defendant has not alleged that either of these convictions have been vacated. In fact, he had not even alleged that any post conviction proceedings have been filed. Instead, Defendant merely alleged that the impact of his alleged mental retardation and brain damage on his "competency at the time of the previously adjudicated convictions was never considered by the jury or trial court." (PCR2. 111) As such, the lower court properly denied this claim as insufficiently plead.

Moreover, this claim is meritless. Defendant's 1973 conviction became final in 1975. Phillips v. State, 311 So. 2d 200 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975). Defendant's prior post conviction attacks to this conviction have been rejected. Phillips v. Wainwright, 562 F.2d 1259 (5th Cir. 1977), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 1076 (1978); Phillips v. State, 372 So. 2d 167 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979); State ex. rel Phillips v. Wainwright, 344 So. 2d 344 (Fla. 1977). Defendant's 1962 conviction has also been final for more than 30 years, and post conviction relief regarding it has also been denied. Phillips v. Wainwright, 225 So. 2d 909 (Fla.

Prior to opening statements at resentencing, Defendant objected to the introduction of certified copies regarding Defendant's 1962 conviction on the grounds that documents did not have a place where Defendant's fingerprint had been placed on them. (RST. 235-36) The trial court overruled this objection. (RST. 236-37)

1969). Defendant's present claim that these convictions are invalid is based on evidence that was presented both in his 1988 evidentiary hearing in this case and his 1994 resentencing. As such, any attempt to seek post conviction relief at this late day would properly be summarily denied as time barred and successive. Mills v. State, 684 So. 2d 801, 804-05 (Fla. 1996) (Defendant's second 3.850 must be filed within the application time period under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 after discovery of factual basis for claim); Bolender v. State, 658 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 1995)(same). Under these circumstances, Defendant's claim that use of these prior convictions violated Johnson was properly denied as meritless. Stano, 708 So. 2d at 275; Eutzy, 541 So. 2d at 1146.

X. DEFENDANT'S CLAIM REGARDING ALLEGED VIOLATIONS OF HIS RIGHT TO BE PRESENT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

Defendant next asserts that he was denied his right to be present during unrecorded bench conference and sidebars. However, the lower court properly denied this claim, as it is procedurally barred and without merit.

A claim that a defendant was denied his right to be present is a claim that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. Rutherford v. Moore, 774 So. 2d 637, 647 (Fla. 2000); Hardwick v. Dugger, 648 So. 2d 100, 105 (Fla. 1994). Claims that

could have and should have been raised on direct appeal are procedurally barred in post conviction proceedings. Francis v. Barton, 581 So. 2d 583 (Fla.), cert. denied, 501 U.S. 1245 (1991). As such, the lower court properly found that this claim was procedurally barred.

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